
 

FINAL 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING 
of the 

HARRIS CHAIN OF LAKES RESTORATION COUNCIL 
 

April 6, 2007 
 
The regular meeting of the Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council (Council) was held at 9:00 
AM on April 6, 2007 at the Lake County Board of County Commissioners’ Chambers, 315 West 
Main Street, Tavares, Florida. 
 
Members Present Members Absent 
Skip Goerner, Chairman    Hugh (Dave) Davis II, Vice Chairman 
Rick Powers, P.G., Secretary      
Keith Farner        
Robert Kaiser, P.E.  
Don Nicholson     
Richard Royal  
Edward M. Schlein, M.D.  
Ted Woodrell 
          
1.  CALL TO ORDER  
 
Chairman Skip Goerner called the meeting to order at 9:00 AM.   
 
2.  INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
An Invocation was given by Councilman Bob Kaiser, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.   
 
3.  ROLL CALL 
 
Chairman Goerner called roll.  Vice Chairman Dave Davis was absent. 
 
4.  APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
A call was made for discussion of the minutes from the March 2, 2007 meeting.  Patrick Hunter, 
Recording Secretary to the Council, notified the Council that Barbara Bess of the Florida 
Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) and Dr. Larry Battoe of the St. Johns River 
Water Management District (SJRWMD) had submitted edits for the minutes.  Mr. Hunter 
explained the suggested edits.  No comments or additional edits were suggested by the Council.  
A vote to approve the March meeting minutes with the edits provided by Ms. Bess and Dr. 
Battoe passed unanimously. 
 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – April 6, 2007 
Page 2 of 17 

 

 

Councilman Rick Powers commented to the Council that the quality of the minutes prepared by 
Mr. Hunter, are of the best he has seen in his career.  He offered his appreciation to Mr. Hunter 
for all of his efforts. 
 
5.  DISCUSSION ITEMS 

Chairman Goerner mentioned that during a recent visit to the Burrell Lock and Dam, his boat 
had become stuck in the sediments built up in the channel, downstream of the structure.  He also 
said that “Red” Howley, owner of Spillway Park located adjacent to the north side of the lock 
and dam, had requested that he be allowed to come before the Council to further discuss 
damages to his seawall, which he contends are caused by the flow through the spillway.  
Chairman Goerner said that he was not certain what the outcome of the Council review of this 
was on this matter. 
 
Councilman Powers explained that [during the Chairman’s medical absence] the Council agreed 
it was not a matter for the Council to decide and Mr. Howley could take the issue up with the 
SJRWMD.  Mr. Hunter added; the motion approved by the Council included that they agreed 
with the findings of the SJRWMD where damages to the seawall are not the fault of the 
operation of the Burrell Dam and spillway. 
 
Chairman Goerner said he would review the meeting minutes on this issue and asked if Mr. 
Howley had been notified of the decision by the Council.  Gene Caputo (SJRWMD) believed 
that Mr. Howley was present when the motion was approved. 
 
Councilman Keith Farner asked about the progress of cypress tree plantings as funded through 
the Council’s Legislative requests. Chairman Goerner said that the City of Leesburg, along with 
other municipalities, and agencies are invited to make requests before the Council to utilize the 
funds received from the Legislature to plant trees.  He added that he has been approached by the 
City of Leesburg and others to discuss the matter.  Chairman Goerner said that the Council will 
move forward with inviting interested parties to make a request before the Council. 
 
Mr. Caputo notified the Council that he had modified the order of the meeting agenda to include 
a question and answer period after any formal presentations, for members of the general public 
and other interested parties.  He explained that some people who had attended the March 
meeting, left before the Public Comment session at the end of the meeting, due to the length of 
the meeting.  Mr. Caputo said that some of those people who attended wanted to ask questions or 
make comments to the Council.  Chairman Goerner agreed with the change to the meeting 
agenda. 
 
6.  PRESENTATIONS 
 
STATUS OF AQUATIC PLANT MANAGEMENT 
 
Gary Nichols – Invasive Aquatic Plant Program Manager for the SJRWMD 
Mr. Nichols provided a copy of a Report of Operation for their FDEP Aquatic Plant Control 
Program which included a figure depicting where they had applied herbicides for that report.  He 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – April 6, 2007 
Page 3 of 17 

 

 

also explained that they utilize Global Positioning Satellite (GPS) technology to track the 
application of aquatic herbicides.  A copy of this handout is provided in Attachment 1 of these 
minutes. 
 
Councilman Richard Royal said that after reviewing the Lake County Department of 
Environmental Services; Division of Mosquito and Aquatic Plant Management – Training and 
Operational Procedures for the Aquatic Plant Management Section, he believes they are doing 
everything according to the plan and are doing it well.  This document was provided to the 
Council in their agenda packets. 
 
Chairman Goerner asked Mr. Nichols if he had any suggestions to improve their aquatic plant 
control program or what his feeling is for allowing certain vegetation to grow.  Mr. Nichols 
explained that when it comes to hydrilla, he would not recommend allowing it to grow.  He said 
that if the hydrilla spread to the whole lake, it would be very expensive and cause environmental 
damage to get the lake back under control.  Mr. Nichols added that they manage the lakes by the 
methods approved by the FDEP. 
 
Councilman Keith Farner asked Mr. Nichols what environmental damage may be caused by 
allowing hydrilla to grow.  Mr. Nichols explained that treating plants which were allowed to 
grow, adds to the detritus at the bottom of the lake.  He said the decaying material on the bottom 
of the lake uses oxygen, therefore low dissolved oxygen (D.O.) in the lake could become a 
problem and lead to fish kills.  Mr. Nichols added that it is much cheaper to treat a limited 
number of plants, than to treat acres of plants. 
 
Chairman Goerner asked if it was Mr. Nichols opinion that overspraying of herbicides is not 
occurring in the Harris Chain of Lakes (HCOL).  Mr. Nichols said that overspraying does not 
occur in the program he manages. 
 
Councilman Royal said he could understand if some surrounding species of plants were affected 
by the spraying.  Mr. Nichols said that if they use fluridone or Sonar, that could happen; 
however, but they use endothol on hydrilla which is species specific. 
 
Councilman Ed Schlein asked if the herbicides they use are water-based and what their diffusion 
rate may be.  Mr. Nichols explained that they use compressed pellets, which sink to the bottom; 
adding they are slow-release and normally stay where they are applied.  He did not rule out that 
other species like Vallisneria [eel grass] may be affected. 
 
Councilman Don Nicholson asked about notification of lake front property owners when 
herbicide application will take place.  Mr. Nichols explained that notification is normally made 
to homeowners, although it is not required by United States Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA) protocols. 
 
Councilman Nicholson suggested that a phone number or other information regarding chemical 
treatment of the lakes be made available to the general public at boat ramps and where people 
obtain fishing licenses.  He added that in his opinion, they are doing a great job managing 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – April 6, 2007 
Page 4 of 17 

 

 

[aquatic plants in] the lakes.  Mr. Nichols said that they do post information regarding herbicide 
application at bait and tackle shops. 
 
Councilman Farner asked if the SJRWMD monitors the re-growth of native species of aquatic 
plants.  Mr. Nichols said that his organization does not, however the Fish and Wildlife 
Conservation Commission (FWCC) monitors plant growth. 
 
With no further questions, Chairman Goerner thanked Mr. Nichols for his information on this 
matter. 
 
Dr. Bill Haller – Director of the University of Florida Center for Aquatic and Invasive 
Plants 
Dr. Haller said that he teaches a class called Pests-Pesticides-People at the University of Florida 
(UF) and reminded the Council of the book Silent Spring by Rachel Carson (1964), which led to 
the Creation of the EPA in 1970.  He said although the book was written in response to the use of 
chlorinated pesticides/herbicides which are no longer used in the United States; it raised the 
awareness of chemical usage in the environment. 
 
Highlights of his presentation are provided below and his complete presentation is provided in 
Attachment 2. 
 

Aquatic Herbicides 101 
 

• Important application information is provided on the label of all pesticides/herbicides 
and the labels are required by law. 

 
• Acute Toxicities of Aquatic Herbicides  

  LD50 = Lethal Dose to 50% of individuals 
  Safety Factor = multiplier for dilution 
 

 
          (Toxicities as determined for Bluegill.) 

 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – April 6, 2007 
Page 5 of 17 

 

 

• Degradation of Aquatic Herbicides 
He discussed the breakdown of chemical herbicides 

 

 
 

• 130 different tests are required by the EPA to register new pesticides/herbicides 
 

• Endothol has been in use in Florida since 1956 
 
• 400 Trainees in May for Herbicide Application Licenses, with a current 60% passing 

rate for the exam 
 

• Re-registration of herbicides is required every 10 years 
 

• Sonar/fluridone 
$2,000 per gallon (4 pounds) 
Risk = Exposure x Hazard 
 

• Aquathol K 
Original Container: 403,000 parts per million (ppm) or 4.23 pounds per gallon 
6 gallons in 94 gallons of water = 24,180 ppm 
Treat 1 acre, 4 feet deep = 2.4 ppm 
 

• Selectivity 
- Hydrilla is easy to kill versus Vallisneria which is difficult to kill 
- Lygodium [small-leaf climbing fern] introduced in Florida in 1985 can be 

successfully treated with contact herbicides 
 

• Hydrilla   
- Requires10% of the light as native species 
- 80% of its mass is in the top 2 feet of water 
- Grows tubers in the Fall that can remain dormant for years 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – April 6, 2007 
Page 6 of 17 

 

 

- No known commercial value – 56% water 
- Improved fishing opportunities in lakes infested with hydrilla because it causes 

low oxygen in deeper water; forcing fish to shallower water, especially in the 
morning 

- Water clarity improves in lakes infested with hydrilla because it blocks out 
sunlight and diminishes the growth of phytoplankton 

 
Councilman Kaiser asked how deep hydrilla can grow.  Dr. Haller said he has seen it as deep as 
26 feet, but it depends on light and water clarity.  He cautioned the Council that as the water in 
the HCOL continues to clear-up; the rate of hydrilla propagation will increase. 
 
Chairman Goerner asked Dr. Haller his opinion on allowing areas of hydrilla to grow to improve 
fish habitat.  Dr. Haller said that it would be dangerous because of the tuber production by the 
plants and after a two or three year period, it would be very difficult and expensive to get the 
growth back under control.  
 
Councilman Farner asked about the use of hydrilla as fish habitat.  Dr. Haller explained that 
although hydrilla may have some benefits to bass populations, it may adversely affect the 
bluegill and crappie populations. 
 
Councilman Schlein asked about hydrilla that disappeared in the Stick Marsh after a recent 
hurricane.  Dr. Haller said that it is his opinion that the wave action during the hurricane, pushed 
the hydrilla onto land and also suspended the thick, black, flocculent, organic-rich bottom 
sediments which will not allow the hydrilla to re-grow at this time. 
 
Dr. Haller also mentioned a study being conducted in Africa where a native insect has been 
found that feeds on hydrilla.  The insect cannot be brought into the United States at this time, 
until the research is completed. 
 
Councilman Nicholson asked if there are any species of fish that will eat the hydrilla tubers.  Dr. 
Haller said that hogs eat them, but they can’t reach tubers that are more than one or two feet 
deep.  He knows of no other species in lakes that will feed on the tubers.  Dr. Haller then 
provided a handout to the Council; Perception versus Fact on pesticides.  A copy of the handout 
is presented in Attachment 3. 
 
Chairman Goerner thanked Dr. Haller for his presentation. 
 
Agency Updates 
Bill Johnson (FWCC) provided a brief update to the Council on their recent activities.  He 
explained that the creel counts are being completed in the next couple of weeks and he will 
provide the data when it becomes available. 
 
Dr. Dan Canfield of the UF and member of the Technical Advisory Group (TAG) to the Council 
provided the following updates to the Council.   
 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – April 6, 2007 
Page 7 of 17 

 

 

• Presented corrected Water Quality graphs, addressing the graphs he presented last 
month which displayed  

 
• He suggested that the Council concentrate on the restoration of the HCOL and not 

Lake Apopka. 
 
• Microcystin [group of toxins produced and released by cyanobacteria] 

- Maximum measured in the HCOL is 3 parts per billion (ppb) which is below the 
Recreational Standard of 20 ppb 

- Fewer algal blooms 
- Don’t drink the Members Absent water when a bloom is present 

 
• 4,200 (large) bass have been relocated  into Lake Griffin 

- Relocation will end next week 
- They are studying data to determine whether they will stock Lake Dora in the 

next restocking effort 
 

• Endocrine disruption study in the Lake Griffin marsh 
- When the bass were moved out of the marsh, they exhibited no issues with 

reproduction due to endocrine disruption  
- Continued study is necessary 

 
Dr. Canfield discussed the issue of aquatic plants for fisheries habitat and the ongoing debate of 
utilizing hydrilla as beneficial habitat.  He suggested that maintaining a lake bottom coverage of 
10%, may prove beneficial to water quality within the lake.  Dr. Canfield cautioned that in order 
to maintain this level of hydrilla, funds and personnel required to chemically control further 
spread of the hydrilla would need to be available.  He went on to suggest that the Council follow 
the suggestion of Dr. Haller to continue to manage hydrilla as they do today and wait until new 
technology becomes available, before changing the strategy of hydrilla management. 
 
Councilman Schlein suggested that; like the flocculent bottom of the Stick Marsh not being able 
to support hydrilla or other plants, the flocculent bottom of Lake Apopka is not allowing for 
plants to grow.  He said that until either the flocculent sediments are dredged or in some manner 
stabilized, revegetation of aquatic plants may not occur. 
 
Dr. Canfield said that management of the lakes is ongoing and will take time to accomplish the 
goals of the Council.  He said one of the management techniques that has yet to begin is lake 
level fluctuation, which will provide beneficial improvements to the lakes and fisheries habitat. 
 
Chairman Goerner asked if the Council was prepared to make any recommendations to the 
LCWA for aquatic plant management.   
 
Councilman Powers expressed his opinion, aquatic plants are being managed according to the 
work plan and information reviewed.  He believes the program is well managed and the Council 
does not have any information to indicate how or what should be changed to improve the 
program. 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – April 6, 2007 
Page 8 of 17 

 

 

 
Councilman Ted Woodrell said he does not believe that the Council has enough information to 
make any recommendations for changing the aquatic plant management program. 
 
Councilman Farner agreed with Councilman Woodrell. 
 
Chairman Goerner said that in his opinion that the current program is adequate and being 
conducted according to the protocols outlined.  He does not believe there is sufficient 
information to support the use of hydrilla as a beneficial plant.  Chairman Goerner is of the 
opinion that the Council not recommend any changes to the current aquatic plant management 
program.  
 
Councilman Schlein suggested that the Council continue to receive data on the herbicide 
application program before making any recommendations for a change.  He also suggested that 
although there is evidence that hydrilla could be beneficial for the lakes, there is not sufficient 
information to support any changes to the plant management program. 
 
Councilman Royal reiterated what he said earlier that the herbicide application program on the 
lakes is being managed well and according to current directives.  He then asked if there is a 
period of time each year when the FDEP reevaluates their Work Plan for the coming year and if 
they consider each of the lakes individually. 
 
Nathalie Visscher (FDEP) explained that discussions for the Work Plan are held in March of 
each year and focus on the acreage of plants they would like to treat with herbicides.  Then they 
determine the cost of application of the herbicides and submit that information to FDEP in 
Tallahassee.  Ms. Visscher said they receive a response to their submission in May of each year.  
She went on to say that modifications to the plan may occur throughout the year. 
 
Councilman Royal said he does not believe that herbicides are being mismanaged, but the issue 
of management should be reevaluated during the Work Plan process.  He further stated that he 
believes the issue of managing hydrilla or other invasive species like water hyacinth should also 
be reevaluated for use on Lake Apopka. 
 
Dr. Canfield reminded Councilman Royal that the charge of the Council was to review herbicide 
application on the HCOL, not Lake Apopka. 
 
Chairman Goerner said that there are two questions to be answered; are herbicides being misused 
on the HCOL, and would the Council make any recommendations for change in the current 
program.  He believes the information reviewed does not indicate the misuse of herbicides on the 
lakes and secondly, there was not enough information provided that would allow the 
recommendation to make any changes to the current program. 
 
Councilman Nicholson said he believes that the management of the hydrilla is done properly and 
he did not have any recommendations for changing the program.  He further believes there is a    
need more beneficial plants, however the fluid muck on the bottom is a problem. 
 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – April 6, 2007 
Page 9 of 17 

 

 

Councilman Farner agreed with Councilman Nicholson and suggested that perhaps they may 
consider the possibility of utilizing the dredging equipment already mobilized on the Lake 
Griffin canals to dredge a portion of the muck in the middle of the lake. 
 
Chairman Goerner asked if there is an agreement among the Council members on the issue of 
aquatic plant management.  He suggested that their decision could be delivered in the form of a 
consensus. 
 
Councilman Powers presented a motion that the Council agrees the current aquatic plant 
management and herbicide application program is being conducted properly.  Councilman 
Nicholson added that the program is being conducted by the guidelines established by the EPA. 
 
Councilman Powers said the second part of the motion is; based on the information reviewed, the 
Council makes no recommendations for change to the current aquatic plant management 
program. 
 
Councilman Royal said that he would recommend that further study is needed to determine if 
improvements to the program can be made through experimentation conducted on small areas of 
the lakes [with respect to utilizing invasive plants to improve the lakes]. 
 
Chairman Goerner said perhaps they should consider not recommending changes to the [aquatic 
plant management] program through new technology becomes available. 
 
The first motion: the Council agrees the current aquatic plant management and herbicide 
program is being conducted according to accepted guidelines, passed by unanimous vote. 
 
Councilman Powers restated the second motion: the Council not make any recommendations for 
change to the current aquatic plant management program.  After further discussion on the issue 
of stimulating additional research, Councilman Powers amended his motion to include: the 
Council encourages further research by the FDEP to improve plant management techniques.  The 
second motion was approved by unanimous vote. 
 
Chairman Goerner asked that Mr. Hunter provide the motions in a form that could be submitted 
to the LCWA.  Mr. Hunter agreed. 
 
Councilman Powers notified the Council that his company BCI [Engineers and Scientists], was 
recently selected by South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD) to dredge 
approximately one square mile of muck at the northeast corner of Lake Okeechobee and build a 
barrier to keep wind-driven muck from moving back into that area.  He said this is an 
experimental project to determine the ability for reestablishment of aquatic plants in the dredged 
area.  Councilman Powers offered to have a presentation made to the Council on the project, 
when more information becomes available. 
 
Chairman Goerner then called for the continuation of Agency Updates. 
 
Barbara Bess of the FDEP did not have any formal update for the Council. 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – April 6, 2007 
Page 10 of 17 

 

 

 
Dr. Larry Battoe (SJRWMD) provided an update to the Council saying he had recently emailed 
the corrections to the graphs presented by Dr. Canfield during the March Council meeting, along 
with the latest water quality data.  He then notified the Council that haul seine netting will begin 
in Lake Griffin next Fall, in an effort to minimize the bycatch of other species.  Copies of the 
information emailed by Dr. Battoe to the Council as part of his update are provided in 
Attachment 4.  
 
Dr. Battoe also said they will be performing maintenance in Lake Apopka Marsh Flow-way 
(LAMF) that will include drying out the cells, to reduce the amount of solids building within 
them.  He explained that when the material within the cells dries out, it has the consistency of 
native peat found in the area.  Dr. Battoe added that they continue to see a 20 to 30 % reduction 
in total phosphorus (TP) going into downstream lakes. 
 
Councilman Farner asked how close the reduction is to the [Total Maximum Daily Load 
(TMDL)] target concentration.  Dr. Battoe explained that the concentration of TP coming out of 
the flow-way is 85 – 90 parts per million (ppm), which is close the target concentration of 55 
ppm for Lake Apopka, but remains higher than the target concentration for Lake Beauclair, 
which is in the range of 30 ppm. 
 
Mike Perry, Executive Director of the LCWA provided the following updates to the Council.  
Copies of handouts presented during the meeting are provided in Attachment 5. 
 

• Lake Beauclair Nutrient Reduction Facility (NuRF) 
- FDEP permit has been approved and now they are working on the construction 

permits 
- The LCWA Governing Board (Board) has approved moving forward with publicizing 

the bid package 
- Eric Livingston (FDEP) continues to offer 50% of the funding required to construct 

the project 
 
Councilman Royal asked about the disposal of the floc material generated by the NuRF.  Mr. 
Perry explained that their estimates indicate they can store up to 15 years worth of accumulated 
material at the site.  Additionally, he said they are working with Lake County to utilize it as daily 
cover for landfills and then continued with his agency update: 
 

• Water Levels  
- Flows from Lake Apopka are at a minimum 
- Flows into other lakes are below the minimum desirable levels 

 
Councilman Royal asked if the LCWA has money set aside so that during these periods of 
natural drawdown, they can make shoreline improvements by dredging some of the exposed 
muck and conduct near shore plantings.  
 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – April 6, 2007 
Page 11 of 17 

 

 

Chairman Goerner explained, the problem with that suggestion is there is no designated and 
prepared site to move the dredged material.  Mr. Perry noted that there are also permitting issues 
involved in moving the dredged material. 
 
Councilman Royal suggested that if the dredged material is an issue, perhaps they could consider 
aquatic plantings. 
 
Mr. Perry said that possibly plantings could take place if there are suitable areas in the lakes and 
added that fluctuations in the Clermont Chain of Lakes has proven successful in improving those 
lakes.  He reminded the Council that the dredging of the Lake Griffin canals is a precursor to 
begin a fluctuation program on the HCOL, and continued with his update: 
 

• Water Levels in Lake Minnehaha  
- The LCWA is receiving complaints from lakefront property owners on the HCOL 

that the lake levels are too low 
- The current level in Lake Minnehaha is too low to move any water from that lake into 

Lake Harris 
- Following the previous drought several years ago, the lakes in Polk County saw 

dramatic improvements in one season after receiving 80 inches of rain in one year 
- Reminded the Council that lake levels are driven by rainfall and the area is in a severe 

drought 
 

• Lake Apopka Consumptive Use Permit Application 
- The permit application has not come back before the LCWA Board 
- Once the application comes before the Board, they only have 21 days to respond 
- The Council should remain vigilant as to the progress of the permit 

 
Councilman Farner expressed his concern with the short period of time that is available for 
response to the permit application package. 
 
Mr. Perry then continued with his update: 
 

• Lake Griffin Access Canal Dredging  
- Continues to move along and they are now completing Canal 16 and  will move to 

Canal 17 next 
- They are currently encountering less sand, therefore the pace of dredging is faster 
- They anticipate the dredging to be completed by November 

 
• Lake Beauclair Dredging 

- They continue to work with the consultant on estimates for dredging 
- The cost of moving the dredged material to a disposal site is still being determined 

 
7.  COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS 
 
Council Member Comments 
No additional Council member comments were made. 



Harris Chain of Lakes Restoration Council Meeting – April 6, 2007 
Page 12 of 17 

 

 

 
Discussion of April 6, 2007 Meeting 
The Council agreed to attend a tour of the Richloam State Fish Hatchery. 
 
8.  PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
No public comments were made. 
 
9.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 12:15 PM. 
 
Respectfully submitted by: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Chairman Skip Goerner 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Secretary Rick Powers, P.G. 



 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Attachment 1 
 

 
Report of Operations 

  
FDEP Aquatic Plant Control Program 

 
provided by 

 
Gary Nichols – SJRWMD 

 
Invasive Aquatic Plant Program Manager 

 
April 6, 2007 

 
 

 
 

 







 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 2 
 
 

Pests-Pesticides-People 
 

Dr. Bill Haller –University of Florida 
 

Center for Aquatic and Invasive Plants 
 

April 6, 2007 


